
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Sharon Keenlyside 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

3 July 2020 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL to be held on Tuesday 14 July 2020 at 7.30 pm in the . 
 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Corporate Director 
Public Protection, Planning and Governance 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES  
 

3.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 19 February 
2020 (previously circulated).  
 

4.   ACTIONS UPDATE (Pages 5 - 6) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Public Protection, Planning and Governance) 
which lists the actions from the last Panel meeting and their current status. 
 

5.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 14  
 

6.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Public Document Pack



 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  
 

7.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 

8.   HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SERVICE UPDATE (Pages 7 - 12) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) which provides an 
update on housing-related activities. 
 

9.   MUTUAL EXCHANGE POLICY (Pages 13 - 34) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) which recommends 
the approval and adoption of a new Mutual Exchange Policy. 
 

10.   SUCCESSION POLICY (Pages 35 - 50) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) which recommends 
the approval and adoption of a new Succession Policy. 
 

11.   HOMELESSNESS PROCESS REPORT (Pages 51 - 62) 
 

 The report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) sets out the 
current process for determining how the Council assesses applicants’ 
homelessness, and how it consequently deals with those that it assesses as 
homeless and seeks approval to continue the current process. 
 

12.   PERFORMANCE  REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QUARTER FOUR 2019/20 
(Pages 63 - 66) 
 

 Report of the Corporate Director (Housing and Communities) providing a summary 
of the strategic key performance indicators (KPIs), and comments about 
performance by exception for Quarter Four 2019/20.  The KPIs are monitored 
monthly by Heads of Service. 
 

13.   WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 (Pages 67 - 68) 
 

 The pro-forma which sets out the Panel’s work programme has been updated 
since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take 
place.  
 

14.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

15.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 



That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 16 (if any) on the grounds 
that it involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined 
in Section 100A(3) and Paragraph 4 (consultations or negotiations relating to 
labour relations) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II 
 

16.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors N.Pace (Chairman) 

J.Boulton (Vice-Chairman) 
M.Birleson 
E.Boulton 
M.Cook 
A.Dennis 
 

M.Holloway 
T.Jackson-Mynott 
R.Lass 
H.Quenet 
F.Thomson 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
To be appointed 
 
Independent Representatives 
 
R.Paris   

 
 Corporate Management Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Sharon 
Keenlyside, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – 
democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 
 

Part I 
Main author: S.Keenlyside 
Executive Member:  
Not Specific Ward  

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 14 JULY 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE) 

ACTIONS STATUS REPORT 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 In order to ensure that actions identified at meetings are completed, this 
report lists the actions from the meeting on 19 February 2020, those 
responsible for completing each action and its current status. 

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Members note the status of actions which were identified at the meeting 
of this Committee on 19 February 2020. 

Minute Action Responsible Status/ 
Date Completed 

 
25 

Tenancy Fraud 
Policy. 
 
Tenancy fraud is 
estimated to cost 
tax payers £1.8 
million per year 
nationally. 
Members asked 
where this figure 
was taken from. 

11.  

Neighbourhood 
and 
Enforcement 
Manager 
 

The information was emailed to 
Members on 25 February 2020. 

 
34 

Performance 
Report for 
Housing Period 
Quarter Three 
2019/20.  
 
KPI BPI 29 - 
Members asked 
how many 
tenants had 
attended 

Head of 
Housing 
Operations 

The information was emailed to 
Members on 24 February 2020. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 
 
 

Minute Action Responsible Status/ 
Date Completed 

Universal Credit 
workshops. 
 
 

 

Page 6



1 
 

Part I 
Main author: Simone Russell 
Leader: Cllr Nick Pace 
All Wards 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL 14 JULY 2020  
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR, HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES 
 

HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SERVICE UPDATE 
 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report provides Cabinet Housing Panel with an update on the housing-
related activities.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Members note the content of the report, on services provided by the 
Housing and Communities teams, and the work that continues to be 
undertaken by officers.   

3 Explanation 

3.1 Over the past quarter the team has been engaged in day to day service 
delivery and has also contributed to the council-wide Covid-19 response, as 
previously reported to full council.  

3.2 Further details are included below. 

3.3 Working with Resolve to provide accommodation and support at the Jim 
McDonald Centre 

Following the closure of The Hive at Jim McDonald Centre and Jimmy Macs, 
the team took swift action early on in the crisis to work with Resolve and 
Mears, to set up emergency accommodation for eight rough sleepers who had 
previously been accommodated at the night shelter at Queensway House. 

The project has been a great success and we saw a strong community form 
among residents. The Housing Needs Team has engaged intensively with the 
residents to help them get their lives back on track.  We continue working 
closely with Resolve and looking at more permanent arrangements for current 
and future rough sleepers, given the success of this temporary hostel at the 
Jim MacDonald Centre. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



2 
 

3.4 Supporting vulnerable residents 

The Housing and Communities team has supported HCC through participation 

in the Volunteering People and Communities Cell, which developed new 

services to ‘shielding’ households and other vulnerable residents not picked 

up through the shielding programme.   

We have also supported the community effort for those who are vulnerable, 

although not officially ‘shielding’, through ‘Operation Sustain’.  The team 

identified a large cohort of residents, including our sheltered housing residents 

and homeless households living in temporary accommodation who were 

vulnerable and unable to access provision and support without help.  

To help meet their needs we have worked successfully with voluntary 

organisations and we have been distributing food parcels to households in 

need, including families in temporary accommodation.  Working with Campus 

West and our Public Health team, and by utilising the council’s currently 

inactive community buses, we delivered more than 670 parcels.   

As the current shielding programme comes to an end the team has worked 

hard to ensure that the vulnerable tenants and others in need of help who 

were receiving this support have alternative plans in place.  Through a highly 

coordinated partnership approach, we have been working closely with the 

CVS, supermarkets and foodbanks throughout and this legacy will help 

ensure ongoing support for those who need it. 

3.5      Letting our homes 

During the initial stages of the Covid crisis we were letting homes only to 

those with emergency need for re-housing.  Since restrictions on moving 

homes eased some weeks ago, we recommenced this service and we are 

now letting homes more generally.  However, some customers cannot move 

due to shielding or other risks relating to Covid 19.    

We have also recommenced the decanting from Queensway House and other 

blocks earmarked for development.   

3.6 Managing rent income and supporting benefit claimants 

Early in the pandemic we saw a spike in the number of Universal Credit 

Claims among tenants.  There have been 423 new claims since 1 March 

2020, although the number of new cases has stabilised and is back at pre 

Covid-19 levels. We continue to engage intensively with tenants who are 

vulnerable, to provide support and advice.  This includes proactively 

contacting tenants, offering direct support for those experiencing financial 

difficulties. 

We are pleased to report that rent arrears remain under firm control.   

Under Covid regulations we have not been permitted to pursue legal action to 

evict tenants.  Once the court system is up and running again (currently stated 

as being August 2020), we will prioritise court action where tenants have 

Page 8



3 
 

breached their tenancies due to serious anti-social behaviour, including 

domestic violence.  We have though, continued to serve notices to take legal 

action for rent arrears cases, so that where tenants have and continue to fail 

to engage with our offers of support and continue to fail paying their rent, we 

will, where appropriate and as a last resort, be in a position take legal 

proceedings, once this is permitted. 

3.07  Managing anti-social behaviour 

We have seen a rise in anti-social behaviour and neighbour-related issues. 

The team is dealing with a wide range of cases and we continue to work 

closely with the police and other council teams. As set out above, the 

suspension of repossession action has been extended for a further two 

months to August 2020 and will impact on the team’s ability to progress 

enforcement action already taken. The team are working with legal services to 

explore our options on this to ensure we can continue to protect and support 

the victims and our communities.  We have successfully applied for closure 

orders, where this has been an appropriate option. 

3.08  Supporting sheltered housing residents 

Independent Living Officers have been making frequent contact with sheltered 

housing residents by phone to make sure they are well, and they have access 

to the support they need. As Government guidance changes, we will review 

how we can reintroduce more direct delivery of services on the schemes, 

whilst being mindful of not posing any risk to residents – or staff.  The team 

has continued carrying out routine fire alarm testing and Health and Safety 

checks on schemes, ensuring the physical safety of our residents. 

3.09  Lifeline community alarm services 

These have continued throughout.  However, we have altered the service so 

that our staff do not have to enter residents’ home.  We now attend properties 

only to allow access to emergency services, rather than enter the property 

ourselves. 

3.10  Meeting Housing Need 

We are working intensively with homeless households who have been brought 
into temporary accommodation under the Government’s ‘Everyone In’ 
campaign.  We have assisted 26 people through the initiative. We have 
responded to the Government’s requirements in terms of producing an action 
plan, setting out how we will support homeless households whom we helped 
during the pandemic to find settled accommodation.  We are waiting to hear 
about details announced by government regarding recently announced 
potential funding to support this group going forward. 

We are also involved in the countywide Accommodation Cell and Homeless 
Recovery Group, which aims to support collaborative and multi-agency 
working, in order that people can be found suitable and sustainable solutions, 
with the right support in place. 

Page 9



4 
 

Approaches to the homeless team have reduced in April (88) and May (82) by 

a third on March’s numbers (131). 

3.11    Affordable Homes 

We continue to progress new housing developments and open market 
purchases.   

Now Housing Limited is progressing, with board meetings taking place 
remotely. We are waiting for the completion of our first Now Housing 
development at Chequersfield, which we hope will be ready for occupation by 
early autumn.  Once the dates for completion are confirmed, we will work with 
the Communications Team to launch Now Housing and promote its first 
housing scheme. 

3.12 Housing repairs 

At the beginning of the Covid crisis many Mears staff were put on furlough.  
Initially only emergency/urgent repairs were carried out.  Most are now out of 
furlough and the responsive repairs service will be addressing the backlog of 
non-emergency repairs that has inevitably built up. 

Programmed installation of new gas heating systems are on hold, unless to 
replace a faulty system.  

Annual gas safety checks are continuing.  We had seen a build-up of overdue 
servicing visits, largely due to residents refusing access due to the fact that 
they were self-isolating or shielding, or just fearful of a visit. There are now still 
a number are out of compliance due to access problems relating to Covid-
related self-isolation.   

The Health and Safety Executive has published clear guidance on how to 
manage this and we have been following this very carefully.  Guidance 
includes assessing risk based on the age and condition of heating systems 
and keeping detailed records of attempts to gain access.  However, HSE 
recognises the difficulties related to self-isolating/shielding residents. 

Further, to help gain access to more homes we have taken several proactive 
measures, and these have had a really positive impact.  Measures included 
setting up a new temporary team, made up of staff whose day to day roles are 
reduced due to restrictions relating to Covid-19.  This new team is contacting 
by phone all tenants who have refused access due to concerns around 
infection, providing reassurance and encouraging them to allow access.  We 
will seek court injunctions where we consider that access is being 
unreasonably withheld.   

3.13    Private sector housing quality 

Earlier on in the pandemic the team was focussing on a reactive approach, 
dealing with complaints made by private sector tenants.  The private sector 
housing team have recommenced inspections of more properties, ensuring 
that control measures are in place to ensure that these can be carried out 
safely. 

Page 10



5 
 

A social media promotional campaign is underway to raise the profile of the 
private sector housing service, to ensure that private tenants are aware of the 
help that is available, should they have issues with disrepair or poor 
management of their homes. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

In response to the pandemic, there have been many areas of new regulations 

and Government guidance, as described above within the different service 

updates.  We continue to closely adhere to these.  

Along with all other registered social landlords in the country we have also 

been required to complete a monthly compliance survey for the Regulator of 

Social Housing (RSH).  This covers health and safety compliance in relation to 

our rented homes and a general service update on supported housing 

services.  The aim of the survey is to keep the RSH updated on any areas of 

concern.  To date, we have not received any follow-up communications from 

the regulator. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 The main potential implications for our operational housing-related services 
are rent arrears and void turnaround times. As set out above, and in our 
quarterly performance update report, the team’s proactive approach has 
helped to mitigate financial losses to the council. 

5.2 As set out in the May Cabinet report, a number of other HRA income areas 
have also been adversely impacted by COVID-19, this include suspension of 
Community buses, Jim McDonald centre rental income, and reduction in 
hostel income due to social distancing. 

5.3 The continuation of activity within our Development Team has helped to avoid 
potential losses linked to the recycling of right to buy receipts.  The council 
has been granted an extension to 31 December 2020 for right to buy receipts 
that were due to be returned at the end of Q1 and Q2 this year. 

5.4 Work is underway to assess the impact of the costs of providing additional 
temporary accommodation and this will  continue to be monitored as part of 
the budget monitoring process. 

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 We are closely monitoring the impacts of Covid on our operational risks 
relating to housing services, which the actions set out in this report are helping 
to mitigate. 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no direct implications.  

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

The emergency changes made to our Contract Procedure Rules have 
enabled contracts to be completed without staff having to be in the office.   

Page 11



6 
 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no direct implications arising from this report. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 Most employees have been able to continue working throughout the covid 
emergency. We have been utilising redeployed staff to support our critical 
services.  There has been very only a small number of Covid related absence 
in the team. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 It is essential that we continue to fulfill our duty of care in respect of our 
employees, contractors and members of the public and as such new risk 
assessments, new control measures and new systems of work have been 
implemented. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 The corporate communications team continues to coordinate all Covid-19 
communication activities relating to Housing and Communities. 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the council’s priorities ‘Our Housing’ and 
‘Our Community’.  

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 No EQIAs have been required on the basis that no new policies have been 
created and no policies have been changed as result of this report.   

 

Page 12



Page 13

Agenda Item 9



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Page 34



Page 35

Agenda Item 10



Page 36



Page 37



Page 38



Page 39



Page 40



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



Page 45



Page 46



Page 47



Page 48



Page 49



Page 50



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: David Trewick 
Executive Member: Nick Pace 
Hollybush Ward 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – TUESDAY 9 JUNE 2020 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES) 

ASSESSING HOMELESSNESS (PRIVATE SECTOR) 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report sets out the current process for determining how the Council 
assesses applicants’ homelessness, and how it consequently deals with those 
that it assesses as homeless and seeks approval to continue the current 
process. This housing function is carried out by the Housing Options Team.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 Members are asked to:- 

2.1.1 note the content of the report 

2.1.2 consider the current procedure for dealing with applicants who are homeless or 
threatened with homelessness as a result of their private sector tenancy coming 
to an end and the possible alternatives as detailed below at Paragraph 3.59 

2.1.3 consider the additional demands and pressures placed on the Council’s Housing 
Needs service since the start of the COVID19 crisis, noting information in 
paragraphs 3.50 to 3.58 

2.1.4 approve the continuation of the current procedure as set out below in Paragraphs 
3.40 to 3.46 of this report. 

3 Explanation 

3.1 The Housing Options team sits within the Housing Needs team, which is under 
the Communities and Housing Strategy Service.  

3.2 The Housing Options team is responsible for carrying out statutory functions 
under homelessness legislation.  

3.3 Led by the Housing Options Manager, the team comprises 14 officers in total, (13 
full time equivalent) which includes a Senior Housing Options Officer, a support 
officer, seven housing options officers and the Temporary Accommodation Team 
(four officers in total) 

3.4 The statutory functions include: 

o carrying out assessments on those who approach the council for housing 
assistance 

o determining whether applicants are homeless or threatened with 
homelessness 

Page 51

Agenda Item 11



- 2 - 

o providing advice and assistance to prevent and relieve homelessness 

o determining whether a duty to accommodate is owed towards applicants 
who are eligible and homeless and providing accommodation when such a 
duty is owed.  

3.5 Local authorities have a duty to provide temporary accommodation when an 
applicant is eligible for assistance (meaning they are able to access public 
funds), homeless (meaning they have no accommodation available to them), and 
meet a certain level of vulnerability (known as being in a priority need).  

3.6 Most applicants are housed due to pregnancy or because they have dependent 
children. These are known as automatic priority need criteria. 

3.7 The other main group triggering a housing duty, are deemed vulnerable (they are 
deemed significantly more vulnerable than an ordinary person faced with 
homelessness)  

3.8 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council has several sites of temporary 
accommodation, in different areas of the Borough.   At the time of writing there 
were 119 households in temporary accommodation, which includes designated 
temporary accommodation, properties let on non-secure tenancies and specialist 
refuge accommodation.  There were nine households in temporary hotel 
accommodation. 

3.9 The council also has arrangements with a number of supported housing 
providers and in recent years has developed new initiatives in partnership with 
voluntary organisations; examples of local specialist and supported housing are  
YMCA, Foyer, Mably House, Hatfield Night Shelter, Emerging Futures (HCC 
commissioned) and our own Housing First project, delivered by Drug Link. 

3.10 Despite ongoing work to prevent homelessness and to develop pathways into 
settled accommodation, the council’s temporary accommodation has been at 
capacity since approximately March 2018.  

Assessing applicants 

3.11 Assessment of eligibility is based on the applicant’s status in the UK – an 
applicant is either eligible or not eligible because of their status in the UK, 
whether they are British or not. Non-UK nationals can be eligible, and UK 
nationals can be deemed not eligible, dependent on their circumstances.  

3.12 Assessment of homelessness is based on whether the applicant has 
accommodation available to them, which is reasonable for their continued 
occupation. A person may be homeless despite owning accommodation that they 
cannot access, or if it poses a risk to their health were they to return to the 
accommodation which they own. 

3.13 Assessment of vulnerability is based on the person’s personal details, including 
but not limited to the circumstances of their physical and mental health.  

Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

3.14 The most recent homelessness legislation to come into effect is the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA), which became law in April 2018. This 

Page 52



- 3 - 

increased the assistance that local authorities are required to give to households 
who are homeless or threatened with homelessness. 

3.15 There was a change in the period which defined when an applicant is threatened 
with homelessness from 28 days to 56 days  

3.16 A requirement to issue a Personalised Housing Plan came into effect, with advice 
to be provided and the setting out of steps to take for every customer who is 
homeless or threatened with homelessness  

3.17 New Prevention and Relief duties were set, increasing the length of time a case 
was dealt with by the Local Authority  

3.18 A Duty to Refer for specified public bodies was introduced, including Probation 
services, Prisons, Jobcentres, Social Services departments and hospitals.  

3.19 The new law also stated that all tenants who had received a valid section 21 
notice were to be treated as threatened with homelessness, regardless of the 
notice period.  

Causes of homelessness  

3.20 There are many causes of homelessness but there are particular reasons which 
are often the most frequently recorded.  

3.21 Family evictions and domestic abuse have for a long time been the main causes 
of homelessness, but in the last few years private sector evictions have 
increased and now appear regularly in the top three.  

3.22 In all cases, attempts are made to prevent the need for a homeless application. 
This is usually done by speaking to and negotiating with the excluder and trying 
to find alternative ways to resolve the housing problems without the need for 
placement into temporary accommodation.  

3.23 For obvious reasons, it is not possible to speak to perpetrators of domestic 
abuse, and those cases are dealt with differently. 

Scale of Demand 

3.24 In order to demonstrate the workload of the Housing Options team, the following 
numbers are provided (rounded up): 

 Number of customers approaching the service (monthly – 2018/19): 100 

 Number of customers approaching the service (annually – 2018/19): 1195 

 Number of customers approaching the service (monthly – 2019/20): 104 

 Number of customers approaching the service (annually – 2019/20):  1258 

 Current caseload of team: 250 (160 open cases without decision/90 cases 
with decision) 

 Current caseload per officer (4.5 full time equivalent due to maternity 
vacancies): 56 cases (35 open cases without decision/21 cases with 
decision) 

Page 53



- 4 - 

 Current number of households in Temporary Accommodation: 119 

3.25 The changing demand upon Temporary Accommodation is demonstrated with 
appendix A.  

3.26 In January 2016 temporary accommodation numbers were well within capacity. 
However since the spike in numbers, we have taken on additional sites of 
accommodation in order to deal with the increased numbers.  The longer term 
strategy is to develop two larger, modern purpose built sites, one in Hatfield and 
one in Welwyn Garden City.  It is anticipated that this, supplemented by some 
specialist provision, will meet demand. 

Private Sector Evictions 

3.27 There can sometimes be particular attention paid to how local authorities deal 
with private sector evictions, and an element of friction between the private 
sector and local authorities.  

3.28 This friction can essentially be distilled down to a difference of priorities and 
opposing views on what action should be taken when a tenant is required to 
leave the accommodation.  

3.29 Private Sector landlords/agents, who have issued Notice to their tenants, usually 
would prefer the tenants to leave as soon as possible, without the need for any 
court action to be taken to remove them.  

3.30 Local Authorities are required to assist and advise applicants as to their housing 
rights, as well as steps they should take to alleviate threatened homelessness.  
This will always include advising a tenant of their right to remain in the 
accommodation pending a court order. 

3.31 Depending on an individual’s circumstances and/or the situation in terms of 
availability of alternative accommodation for the applicant, the council may also 
advise the tenant to stay at the property until their legal right of occupation has 
concluded. 

3.32 There is a balance to be struck in dealing with cases. The Housing Options team 
are very aware of the competing interests and try to manage them as best as 
possible. However ultimately the priority is the customer’s housing situation.  

3.33 The landlord is contacted in all cases so that the reasons for eviction are known 
and to see if the tenancy can be saved.  

3.34 If it is possible to prevent homelessness, steps are taken to facilitate that 
outcome. If it isn’t possible, the tenants are advised of their rights, and provided 
with advice to seek alternative accommodation. Advice also includes steps that 
need to be taken by Council officers and the tenant themselves. 

Guidance from Government 

3.35 There is guidance to authorities on how to act in cases involving private sector 
evictions. The most recent Code of Guidance was published in 2018, but 
Guidance can include letters by ministers issued to local authorities.  

Page 54



- 5 - 

3.36 In 2016 a letter was issued by then Housing Minister Brandon Lewis providing 
further guidance to local authorities about how to deal with section 21 notices 
and intentional homelessness.  

3.37 The guidance advised authorities not to routinely advise tenants to stay until the 
bailiffs arrive and reminded them that there is no barrier to them assisting the 
tenant before this. 

3.38 It said that housing authorities should not, in every case, insist upon a court order 
for possession, that no local authority should adopt a blanket policy in this case 
and that unless a local authority has very good reason to depart from the 
statutory guidance then they should not be placing households in this position. 

3.39 As well as the factors set out elsewhere in this Guidance, factors which may be 
relevant include the general cost to the housing authority. 

WHBC processes  

3.40 The Housing Options team operate within all guidance provided by Government, 
and there has been no legal challenge to any procedures by applicants or other 
parties on this issue.  

3.41 There have been enquiries from several private sector landlords, questioning the 
policies and processes that the Housing Options team work to. The essence of 
the enquiries is the expectation that Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council will 
provide alternative accommodation when the notice expires, regardless of the 
tenant’s circumstances.  

3.42 When a valid section 21 notice is issued, the Housing Options Team considers 
the applicant as homeless at the expiry of that notice. This is not dependent on 
anything and is an approach that is followed consistently. The relevant duties are 
accepted towards the applicant at that stage and the applicant is notified.  

3.43 Whether accommodation is provided will be dependent on several factors 
including: 

 Whether WHBC owes a duty to accommodate (taking into account the 
criteria set out above in points 3.11 to 3.13).  

 Whether WHBC has available suitable temporary accommodation  

3.44 If no duty to accommodate exists, the tenant will be advised to look for alternative 
accommodation, but also of their right to remain in the property until a court order 
is obtained or until they secure somewhere else to live. The alternative would 
mean the tenant leaving the property and being homeless and potentially 
roofless.  

3.45 If a duty to accommodate exists, but there is currently no suitable temporary 
accommodation available for the applicant, the tenant will be advised to look for 
alternative accommodation, but also of their right to remain in the property until a 
court order is obtained, until they secure somewhere else to live or temporary 
accommodation becomes available for them. The alternative would mean 
housing the tenant in hotel accommodation instead of their own home. 

Page 55



- 6 - 

3.46 If there is a duty to accommodate and there is available temporary 
accommodation, the tenant will be accommodated around the time of the expiry 
of the section 21 notice.  

  

Page 56



- 7 - 

Impact of Private Sector Evictions 

3.47 As advised at 3.21, Private sector evictions is one of the leadings causes of 
homelessness.  

3.48 Since April 2018 when the HRA came into effect, we have collected data for each 
customer. This allows us to analyse reasons for homelessness.  

3.49 The date shows that in the two years since the HRA came into effect: 
 

 Eviction from Private sector accommodation was the second most 
common cause of homelessness in Welwyn Hatfield, with the leading 
cause of homelessness being ‘relatives asking an applicant to leave their 
accommodation’. 

 In 2018/19 there were 186 approaches, with the reason for threatened 
homelessness ‘being evicted from private sector accommodation’. In 
2019/20 (up to 9 March 2020) there were 203 approaches with this 
reason.  

 Of those 389 cases approaching, only 151 cases progressed to an open 
case at Homeless stage, meaning that the Council’s assistance was either 
not needed, or efforts to prevent homelessness were successful.  

 Of those 151, a duty to accommodate would be owed to at least 83 of 
those cases.  

 If the policy changed to accommodating these cases at the point the 
notice expired in call cases, the number of households in temporary 
accommodation would increase dramatically.  

 Members should also note that in the case of the 68 applicants where 
there was not a duty to accommodate, the applicants could find 
themselves ‘roofless’ if they have not been able to secure an alternative. 

 
COVID19 – Additional demands and pressures  

 
3.50 Since the start of the COVID19 crisis in approximately mid-March 2020, the 

Housing Needs service has had to deal with increased difficulties in providing the 
service. These have been wide-ranging, from the logistical to the operational.  

3.51 Logistical issues have included working out solutions to the limits on personal 
contact, such as limiting and then ending the possibility of face to face interviews, 
the closure of the Council reception area and the requirement of home working in 
order to reduce potential infection. Solutions have been an increase in the 
reliance on IT products which support the team in accepting online applications 
and the wider use of the Council’s IT solutions.  

3.52 Operational issues have been the demands placed on the service from an 
increase in numbers of approaches to the Council, and an increase in the 
amount of applications leading to the provision of accommodation.  

3.53 On 24 March 2020, following the Prime Minister’s address to the nation the 
previous evening, many hotels closed their doors and ejected 10 households 
without notice.  

3.54 On 27 March 2020, local authorities were instructed by the Government to assist 
all known rough sleepers and those who were at risk of rough sleeping into 
accommodation. As a consequence, Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council has 

Page 57



- 8 - 

provided accommodation to an additional 36 households that would not ordinarily 
be owed an accommodation duty.  

3.55 This increase is equivalent to the current average caseload of a single full time 
housing options officer.   

3.56 On the same date, the court service suspended all ongoing housing possession 
actions, effectively ending all evictions for the foreseeable future. At the time of 
writing this suspension is still in effect, however we anticipate unprecedented 
delays to possession action when the courts resume business.  

3.57 Due to these changes it is not currently feasible to accommodate households at 
the point of their notice expiring.  

3.58 The pressures placed upon the service arguably support the recommendation to 
continue with the existing methods, as opposed to making changes that would 
severely impact the ability to provide a functioning homelessness service.  

Alternative proposals  

3.59 In light of the recent landlord enquiries, the committee are asked to consider 
whether to continue with the policy and processes set out above for applicants 
where a housing duty exists, or to consider making provision to applicants where 
a duty is owed at the expiry of the Section 21 notice, regardless of whether 
suitable accommodation is available.  

 In cases where a duty to accommodate is owed, this will mean arranging 
accommodation even in cases where no suitable temporary 
accommodation is available, therefore placing applicants in hotels 

 The implication of this is that there will be a big increase in the number of 
households in hotel accommodation and this will have reputational, 
financial and potential legal implications for the council. 

3.60 There have also been discussions regarding providing advice to private sector 
tenants where no housing duty is owed, to suggest that they should relinquish 
their tenancy at the point of expiry of the Section 21 Notice.  However this would 
be in breach of the council’s legal duties and also potentially place these 
applicants at risk of being roofless, therefore this is not a feasible policy change. 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Homelessness is determined in line with the current homelessness legislation, 
and the current Guidance issued by Government. This is defined in the Housing 
Act 1996, as amended most recently by the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017.  

4.2 The Protection from Eviction Act 1977 ensures that Assured Shorthold Tenants 
cannot be required to leave rented property without a court order. Any attempts 
by landlords to remove them before this is obtained could give rise to action 
against the landlord for unlawful eviction, which is a criminal and civil offence.  

4.3 The Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 2003 makes it unlawful 
for Local Authorities to provide hotels as family accommodation for longer than 6 
weeks.    

  

Page 58



- 9 - 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 If the council amends its current policy and as a result provides accommodation 
for all applicants where there is a legal duty at the expiry of the Section 21 
Notice, regardless of whether there is suitable temporary accommodation 
available, this will lead to increasing expenditure as additional accommodation 
will need to be arranged, most likely using local hotels.  

5.2 The amount of expenditure will not be fully recouped by Housing Benefit and this 
will be a shortfall that WHBC will have to incur.  

5.3 The additional pressures placed on the service during the COVID19 crisis make 
a change in policy likely to overwhelm the Council’s ability to provide 
accommodation, increasing costs several fold.  

6 Risk Management Implications 

6.1 The risks related to the content of this report are: 

6.2 Reputational – the council is likely to face criticism if the number of households in 
temporary accommodation increase, particularly if there are a greater number of 
people in hotel accommodation. 

6.3 Financial – the cost of the additional hotel placements is difficult to estimate, 
however based on the figures provided in this report, there was a duty to 
accommodate 83 households across the two years; if you assume that they will 
be in hotel accommodation for two months (based on the extra length of time an 
applicant usually remains in a private sector tenancy) – this would be an annual 
increase in hotel costs of £199,200. (83 households/weekly cost of approximately 
£600 per week/8 weeks each household) 

6.4 Social – the council works hard to seek to prevent homelessness and keep the 
number of households in temporary accommodation to a minimum.  In particular 
we work hard to ensure that we only use hotel accommodation as a last resort, or 
where due to the volume of cases, demand for temporary accommodation is 
outstripping supply.  Provision of hotel accommodation is highly undesirable, as it 
is not an ideal environment for a family to live in, other than for a very short 
period. 

6.5 Legal – the council has a responsibility to provide housing advice to any 
applicant who approaches the council and there is a duty to prevent and relieve 
homelessness under the HRA.  Providing tenants with information about their 
rights in the context of a private sector tenancy forms part of this duty.  If the 
council is not clear in this advice, it could be subject to challenge.  Additionally, if 
the council provides temporary accommodation in the form of hotel 
accommodation to households with children, for more than six weeks, it will fall 
foul of the Homelessness (Suitability of Accommodation) Order 2003 which 
makes it unlawful for Local Authorities to provide hotels as family accommodation 
for longer than 6 weeks. 

 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 There are no known security or terrorism implications arising from this report. 

Page 59



- 10 - 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 There may be procurement implications if extra expenditure is incurred due to 
additional costs of accommodation 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 There are unlikely to be any climate change implications  

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 There may be human resources implications if extra expenditure is incurred due 
to additional costs of accommodation and the temporary accommodation team is 
required to manage additional units of accommodation.  

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 Suitable housing is a significant factor in ensuring that people have positive 
health and well-being. 

11.2 As set out in Para 6.4, it could be detrimental to the applicant or their households 
health and well-being, if they are living in hotel accommodation.  

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 There are unlikely to be any communication and engagement implications  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority ‘Our 
Housing’, and specifically to the achievement of ‘plan for current and future 
housing need’ 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1  An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to 
existing service-related policies or the development of new service-related policies. 
 
 
Name of author David Trewick 
Title Housing Options Manager 
Date 29.05.2020 
 
 
 
Background papers to be listed: 

Appendix A 

 

Page 60



Appendix A

60

80

100

120

140

Numbers in TA 

Q1 

16/17

Q2 

16/17

Q3 

16/17

Q4 

16/17

Q1 

17/18

Q2 

17/18

Q3 

17/18

Q4 

17/18

Q1 

18/19

Q2 

18/19

Q3 

18/19

Q4 

18/19

Q1 

19/20

Q2 

19/20

Q3 

19/20

Q4 

19/20

Numbers in TA 80 67 74 64 65 70 77 97 97 118 115 96 104 113 115 124

0

20

40

60

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 63

Agenda Item 12



Page 64



Page 65



Page 66



Classification: Unrestricted 

CABINET HOUSING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

DATE OF 
MEETING  

REPORTS  REPORT AUTHORS 
SERVICE AREAS 

15 September 2020  Affordable Housing Programme Update 
 

 Rent Setting Policy 
 

 Performance Report for Housing Quarter One KPIs 2020/21 
 

 
 
Simon Kiff 
 
All 

10 November 2020  Performance Report for Housing Quarter Two KPIs 2020/21 
 
 

All 
 

12 January 2021  
 
 

 

2 March 2021  Performance Report for Housing Quarter Three KPIs 2020/21 All 
 
 

 

P
age 67

A
genda Item

 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 ACTIONS UPDATE
	8 HOUSING AND COMMUNITIES SERVICE UPDATE
	9 MUTUAL EXCHANGE POLICY
	10 SUCCESSION POLICY
	11 HOMELESSNESS PROCESS REPORT
	11 - Homelessness Process Appendix A

	12 PERFORMANCE  REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QUARTER FOUR 2019/20
	13 WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21

